**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

RECEIVED

Apr 12 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Georgetown County
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-22-00961
Appellate Case No. 2020-001167

Kevin Greene,
as Attorney in Fact for and on Behalf of
Eleanor Greene Wragg,

Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Prince George Operating, LLC
d/b/a Prince George Healthcare Center;
Palmetto Health Care, LLC;
Murray Forman, Individually; and
Richard Porter, Individually,

Defendants.

Of whom Palmetto Prince George Operating, LLC
d/b/a Prince George Healthcare Center;
Palmetto Health Care, LLC; and
Richard Porter, Individually, are

Appellants.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility¹ and Porter's² motions to compel Plaintiff's³ claims to arbitration and, in turn, in denying PHC's⁴ corresponding motion for a stay?⁵**
- A. Did the circuit court err in finding that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contracts (i.e., in not finding the instruments merged) and in rejecting the Facility's argument that Plaintiff should be equitably estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement?**
- B. Did the circuit court err in failing to find that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable against Plaintiff because it was either validly executed on Ms. Wragg's behalf by her lawful agent (whether via true agency or agency by estoppel) or Ms. Wragg thereafter ratified its execution on her behalf?**
- II. At a minimum, did the circuit court err in denying the Facility and Porter's alternative request for limited discovery to address gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the Arbitration Agreement's enforceability?**

¹ The "Facility" is Defendant-Appellant Palmetto Prince George Operating, LLC d/b/a Prince George Healthcare Center. It is a skilled nursing facility in Georgetown County. (R. p. 8 ¶ 3.)

² "Porter" is Defendant-Appellant Richard Porter.

³ "Plaintiff" is Plaintiff-Respondent, Kevin Greene, as Attorney in Fact for and on behalf of Eleanor Greene Wragg. "Ms. Wragg" refers to Eleanor Greene Wragg herself.

⁴ "PHC" is Defendant-Appellant Palmetto Health Care LLC. Collectively, the Facility, Porter, and PHC are "Appellants."

⁵ Out of an abundance of caution, Appellants would make clear that their issues, and corresponding arguments, challenge both the circuit court's ruling on their principal motions (i.e., the Facility and Porter's motions to compel arbitration and PHC's motion to stay) and its ruling on their motion to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its ruling on their principal motions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of her son Wendal Greene (“Mr. Greene”), Ms. Wragg was admitted to the Facility on November 27, 2017. (*See* R. pp. 61–72.) In conjunction with his mother’s admission, Mr. Greene signed an Admission Agreement⁶ and an Arbitration Agreement⁷ on her behalf. By his signature on the Arbitration Agreement, Mr. Greene expressly “represent[ed] that . . . he . . . ha[d] the authority to sign on [Ms. Wragg’s] behalf so as to bind [Ms. Wragg] as well as [himself].” (R. p. 30.)

Plaintiff commenced this nursing home malpractice action in Georgetown County on October 4, 2019, in the Court of Common Pleas, alleging deficient care/treatment of Ms. Wragg during her residency at the Facility. (*See* R. pp. 7–17.)

Based on the Arbitration Agreement Mr. Greene signed for Ms. Wragg when she was admitted to the Facility, both the Facility and Porter⁸ moved to compel

⁶ (R. pp. 61–72.)

⁷ (R. p. 30.) Without question, the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the FAA. It expressly states that the FAA applies. (R. p. 30.) Moreover, our Supreme Court has held that skilled nursing facility admission agreements implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381–82, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732–33 (2014).

⁸ Porter is covered by the Arbitration Agreement as an “agent,” “employee,” and/or “servant” of the Facility. (*See* R. p. 30 (“This Agreement is made between [the Facility], its agents, employees, and servants, and”); *see also* R. p. 9 ¶¶ 6–8 (alleging Porter was an agent, employee, and/or servant of the Facility at all relevant times).)

arbitration (the “Motions to Compel Arbitration”). (R. pp. 28–29, pp. 31–32.)⁹ PHC moved to stay the action until the arbitrability issue (i.e., the issue raised by the Motions to Compel Arbitration) was finally decided and any and all arbitration proceedings were completed (the “Motion to Stay”). (See R. pp. 26–27.)

Following the parties’ submission of briefs,¹⁰ the circuit court, the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson presiding, denied the Motions to Compel Arbitration and the Motion to Stay by order filed June 17, 2020. (R. pp. 1–4.)

On June 29, 2020, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, Appellants timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision on their respective motions. (R. pp. 111–14.) The motion was denied by order filed July 16, 2020. (R. pp. 4–6.)

⁹ Without question, Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility and Porter are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. Its plain language clearly embraces the subject matter of Plaintiff’s claims. (See R. p. 30 (“It is the intention of the parties to this [Arbitration] Agreement to bind not only themselves, but also their successors, assigns, heirs, personal representatives, guardians or any persons deriving their claims through or on behalf of [Ms. Wragg].”), p. 30 (“It is . . . understood that in the event of any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Ms. Wragg’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Ms. Wragg] . . . and the parties are unable to resolve such through negotiation, then the parties agree that such Dispute(s) shall be resolved by arbitration”).) But even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999).

¹⁰ (R. pp. 33–51, pp. 73–101, pp. 106–10.)

By notice served August 17, 2020, this appeal timely follows. (*See* R. pp. 115–19.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the lower court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within trial court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motions to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, in denying the corresponding Motion to Stay.

The relationship between the Motions to Compel Arbitration and the Motion to Stay is such that, insofar as the circuit court was concerned, the denial of the former mooted the latter. The fates of these motions (or, more precisely, the fates of the appeals taken from the circuit court's rulings thereon) are likewise intertwined in this Court: whether the Motion to Stay is properly viewed as moot depends on whether the Motions to Compel Arbitration were properly denied—which, most respectfully, the Facility and Porter contend they were not.

Accordingly, in showing that the circuit court erred in denying the Motions to Compel Arbitration, the argument below also shows the court's error in denying the corresponding Motion to Stay, which is not properly viewed as moot and should have been (or, alternatively, on remand should be) granted. *See* 9 U.S.C. § 3 (“If any suit or proceeding be brought in any of the courts of the United States upon any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration, the court in which such suit is pending, upon being satisfied that the issue involved in such suit or proceeding is referable to arbitration under such an agreement, *shall* on application of one of the parties *stay the trial of the action until such arbitration has been had in accordance with the terms of the agreement*, providing the applicant for the stay is not in default in proceeding with such

arbitration.”) (emphasis added); *Stokes v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 606, 612, 571 S.E.2d 711, 715 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[The] FAA clearly requires a court stay ‘any suit or proceeding’ pending the arbitration of ‘any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration’ upon the application of one of the parties.”); *see also Episcopal Housing Corp. v. Federal Ins. Co.*, 269 S.C. 631, 641, 239 S.E.2d 647, 652 (1977) (“The fact that Federal is not a party to an arbitration agreement does not prevent an order staying the judicial proceedings pending arbitration between those who are parties to such an agreement. However, the Circuit Court included in its order the requirement that all parties be included in one arbitration proceeding. Federal has signed no arbitration agreement and cannot be forced into compulsory arbitration. We feel it was erroneous to condition the relief to which respondents are plainly entitled upon the voluntary submission of Federal to arbitration proceedings. This provision has been deleted from the foregoing Order of the lower court.”).

A. The circuit court erred in rejecting Appellants’ merger/equitable estoppel argument, i.e., it erred in failing to find that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and that Plaintiff is estopped to deny the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability.

First off, to be clear, Appellants’ merger/equitable estoppel argument is not an argument *for the enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement but rather an argument *for Plaintiff to be estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Arbitration

Agreement. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement (the enforceability of which, it should be noted, Plaintiff does not dispute¹¹) and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and Ms. Wragg having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. Accordingly, any counterarguments aimed at denying the Arbitration Agreement's enforceability (e.g., that, under the common law of agency and/or under the Adult Health Care Consent Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-10 to -80, Mr. Greene lacked authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Ms. Wragg) are beside the point and unavailing.

Re: Merger

South Carolina recognizes numerous potentially viable theories under which a nonsignatory can be bound to an arbitration agreement. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel.”).

Indeed, in *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the *particular facts* then before it, the Court

¹¹ (R. p. 42 n.8 (“[T]he enforceability of the Admission Agreement is

nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the AA under the Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the AA's enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the AAs merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. 346, 354–355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (emphasis added).

There are material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed in)

Coleman and its progeny, *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).

The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”¹² as indeed the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,¹³ there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the contracting parties intended the instruments to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of the parties’ intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention . . .*”) (emphasis added). “[I]n attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” the Court “endeavor[s] to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice, it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only on actual evidence that—notwithstanding the

¹² *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

¹³ As the *Coleman* Court expressly observes regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were [indeed] executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and*

concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, it does not even make sense that the parties would have intended the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement not to merge

Unlike the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*, *Hodge*, and *Thompson*, all of which provided that they could be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of their signing (while the corresponding admission agreements contained no such provision), the instant Arbitration Agreement has no such disclaimer/revocation provision. (*See* R. p. 30.) Moreover, while the instant Admission Agreement does contain an “Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate contract. (R. p. 72.) Indeed, the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that other admissions materials are deemed a part of the Admission Agreement. (R. p. 72.) Without question, the Arbitration Agreement is among the admissions materials.

in the course of the same transaction.” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455

To be sure, the Arbitration Agreement was optional, i.e., agreeing to arbitration was not required to gain admission to the Facility. (R. p. 104 ¶ 9.) But all this means is that it did not have to be agreed to for Ms. Wragg to be admitted, i.e., the Arbitration Agreement did not have to be executed at all. It does not mean that the Arbitration Agreement did not become a part of the admissions materials once it was in fact agreed to. Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission underscores its *connectedness* to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement).

Moreover, while it is true that the Arbitration Agreement is not necessary to the Admission Agreement, the converse is not true: the Admission Agreement *is* necessary to the Arbitration Agreement. That is, the Admission Agreement *could* have stood on its own, i.e., without the Arbitration Agreement ever having been executed, in which case no question of merger would have even arisen to begin with—but that is not what happened. The Arbitration Agreement was in fact executed, and it was executed under the particular circumstances that give rise to the presumption of merger—same time, parties, purpose, and transaction—but unlike the Admission Agreement, which is capable of making sense either standing alone or together with the Arbitration Agreement, *the Arbitration Agreement only*

(emphasis added).

makes sense together with the Admission Agreement, which is its (the Arbitration Agreement's) sole reason for being. (See R. p. 30 (providing for arbitration of “any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to Resident’s stay at Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to Resident”), p. 30 (“This [Arbitration] Agreement shall remain in effect for all care rendered at Facility”).)

Even though the Arbitration Agreement was not a *condition* of admission, it was agreed to in *conjunction* with admission; whereupon, it was intended to be considered and construed together with the Admission Agreement, such that the two were effectively one instrument governing various interrelated aspects of Ms. Wragg’s relationship with the Facility: the Admission Agreement setting forth the terms of her admission, the Arbitration Agreement providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of her admission. (*Compare* R. pp. 61–72 (setting forth the terms of Ms. Wragg’s admission to the Facility) *with* p. 30 (providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of Ms. Wragg’s admission in the Facility).)

Also absent here is the type of discrepancy the *Hodge* Court pointed out with respect to the respective provisions of the admission and arbitration agreements before it as to the governing law. 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. (*Compare* R. p. 70 (providing “This Agreement will be governed by and construed in

accordance with applicable Federal regulations and those laws of the State in which Facility is located.”) *with* p. 30 (providing that, “because the services and reimbursement thereof effect a transaction involving interstate commerce, the enforcement of this Arbitration Agreement . . . shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Action,” but also providing that arbitration shall be “as provided by the South Carolina Alternate Dispute Resolution/Mediation Rules”).) Essentially, both instruments provide that South Carolina law applies except where displaced by federal law. This provides no reasonable inference of an intent contrary to merger.

Similarly, the fact that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement have their own titles, are separately paginated, and are separately signed provides no reasonable inference of an intent contrary to merger. Respectfully, to point to such things is really to do no more than to point out that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate instruments, a fact which does not actually suggest anything probative about the intent of the contracting parties as to whether they should be construed together. Indeed, the question of merger will not arise in the first place unless there are multiple instruments involved. Obviously, it cannot be the case that the mere existence of the necessary factual predicate for the question of merger to arise, i.e., separate instruments, shows an intention contrary to merger.

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