THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Apr 12 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Georgetown County
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-22-00961
Appellate Case No. 2020-001167

Kevin Greene,
as Attorney in Fact for and on Behalf of
Eleanor Greene Wragg,

Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Prince George Operating, LLC
d/b/a Prince George Healthcare Center;
Palmetto Health Care, LLC;
Murray Forman, Individually; and
Richard Porter, Individually,

Defendants.

Of whom Palmetto Prince George Operating, LLC
d/b/a Prince George Health Care Center;
Palmetto Health Care, LLC; and
Richard Porter, Individually, are

Appellants.

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTIONS TO COMPEL ARBITRATION AND MOTIONS TO STAY BECAUSE THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IS INVALID AND UNENFORCEABLE AS AGAINST MS. WRAGG.

Contrary to Appellants' assertions, matters dealing with the Arbitration Agreement's validity – and, by extension, its enforceability as against Ms. Wragg – are the first points this Honorable Court should address. To be sure, whether “there is a valid agreement” is a threshold issue in deciding whether an arbitration provision can be enforced. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 336, 827 S.E.2d 167, 173 (2019).

Arbitration is a matter of contract, and South Carolina courts must determine the validity or enforceability of an arbitration agreement based on the principles of state-specific contract law, even those agreements governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA). *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 538, 541, 542 S.E.2d 360, 365 (2001). State-specific contract law principles “[remain] applicable if that law, whether legislative or judicial, arose to govern issues concerning the validity, revocability, and enforceability of all contracts, generally.” *Id.* at 541, 542 S.E.2d at 365 (citing *Perry v. Thomas*, 482 U.S. 483, 492 n. 9 (1987)). However, “a presumption *against* arbitration arises where the party resisting arbitration is a non[-]signatory to the written agreement to arbitrate.” *Wilson*, at 337-38, 827 S.E.2d at 173 (citation omitted) (emphasis in original).

Here, there is no dispute about whether Ms. Wragg signed the Arbitration Agreement. She did not. Thus, the Arbitration Agreement cannot be valid on the basis of her personal execution. Therefore, this Court must examine whether it is valid and enforceable by operation of some other state-specific law. “South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind non[-]signatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law,

including . . . agency, . . . and estoppel.” *Wilson*, at 339, 827 S.E.2d at 174.⁴ Appellants rely on agency and estoppel theories as support for the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability (or, alternatively, for estopping Respondent from denying its enforceability), but neither theory operates to bind Ms. Wragg to the Arbitration Agreement’s terms.

A. There was no agency relationship between Ms. Wragg and Mr. Wendal Greene such as would have given him authority to bind her to the Arbitration Agreement.

Appellants assert some type of agency relationship existed between Ms. Wragg and Mr. Wendal Greene, thus making his executing the Arbitration Agreement binding upon her. “Agency is the fiduciary relationship that arises when one person (a ‘principal’) manifests assent to another person (an ‘agent’) that the agent shall act on the principal’s behalf and subject to the principal’s control.” *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 49, 748 S.E.2d 625, 631 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01 (2006)). “Actual authority” is defined as “such authority as a principal intentionally confers on the agent, or intentionally or by want of ordinary care allows the agent to believe himself to possess.” *Black’s Law Dictionary* 33 (5th ed. 1979). Such authority can be express or implied. *Id.*

On the other hand, an “apparent agency” may be created where, in dealing with a third party, a putative principal holds out another person as her agent. *See generally, e.g., Froneberger*, at 47, 748 S.E.2d at 630. Creation of apparent agency authority requires actions or conduct by the principal toward a third person such as would “cause[] the third person to believe the principal consents to have [an] act done on [her] behalf by the [agent].” *Frasier v. Palmetto Homes*, 323

⁴ The *Wilson* court also noted “incorporation by reference,” “assumption,” and “veil piercing/alter ego” are other theories that may bind a non-signatory to an Arbitration Agreement. *See Wilson*, at 339, 827 S.E.2d at 174. Because these other theories have not been raised in Appellants’ Initial Brief, they will not be addressed in Respondent’s Initial Brief, either.

S.C. 240, 244-45, 473 S.E.2d 865, 868 (Ct. App. 1996) (citation omitted). However, “an agency may not be established solely by the declarations and conduct of an alleged agent.” *Id.* at 245, 473 S.E.2d at 868 (citation omitted).

In any event, the “party asserting agency as a basis of liability must prove the existence of the agency, and the agency must be clearly established by the facts.” *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 565, 813 S.E.2d 292, 304 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting *McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 6, 362 S.E.2d 26, 29 (Ct. App. 1987)). As discussed below, no agency relationship existed between Ms. Wragg and Mr. Wendal Greene such as would give him authority to bind her to the Arbitration Agreement.

- i. No actual agency relationship existed between Mr. Wendal Greene and Ms. Wragg such as would have given him authority to bind her to the Arbitration Agreement.

In the instant case, there is no evidence suggesting Ms. Wragg intentionally conferred upon Mr. Wendal Greene the authority to act as her agent for any purpose, much less for the purpose of making decisions about her right to trial by jury. Appellants have pointed to no record evidence, no facts that “clearly establish” a true agency relationship between Ms. Wragg as principal and Mr. Wendal Greene as her agent.⁵ Accordingly, no actual principal-agent relationship existed, therefore Mr. Wendal Greene did not possess authority to bind Eleanor Wragg to the terms of the Arbitration Agreement in this matter.

- ii. No apparent agency relationship existed between Mr. Wendal Greene and Ms. Wragg such as would have given him authority to bind her to the Arbitration Agreement.

South Carolina law requires proof of three elements to establish apparent agency: “(1) that the purported principal consciously or impliedly represented another to be [her] agent; (2) that

⁵ See *Hodge*, at 565, 813 S.E.2d at 304.

there was reliance upon the representation; and (3) that there was a change of position to the relying party's detriment." *Froneberger*, at 47, 748 S.E.2d at 630 (quoting *Graves v. Serbin Farms, Inc.*, 306 S.C. 60, 63, 409 S.E.2d 769, 771 (1991)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

"The first element of apparent agency can be established by either: (1) affirmative conduct or (2) conscious and voluntary action." *Id.* at 47, 748 S.E.2d at 630 (citations omitted). Here, there is no evidence of Ms. Wragg's affirmatively holding Mr. Wendal Greene out as her agent. There is no evidence that Ms. Wragg made any implicit or explicit representation to Ms. Angela Burns that Mr. Wendal Greene was empowered to act on her behalf in any manner, much less for the purpose of waiving her right to a jury trial.

Moreover, a finding of apparent agency requires a party's reliance upon the principal's representation and a detrimental change in the relying party's position.⁶ There is no evidence of either element in this case. Rather, Ms. Burns testifies to relying on "Mr. [Wendal] Greene's statements and actions" in forming her belief as to his authority to act on Ms. Wragg's behalf. (R. p. 105.) Similarly, Appellants note Mr. Wendal Greene signed the Arbitration Agreement and affirmed he had authority to do so. (App. Initial Brief, p. 2; *see* R. p. 30.) Neither of these items suffice to show apparent agency because, as noted above, an apparent agency cannot be based solely on the representations of the alleged agent.⁷ That Mr. Wendal Greene may have represented himself as having such authority is inapposite in this context.⁸

⁶ *See Froneberger*, at 47, 748 S.E.2d at 630.

⁷ *Frasier*, at 245, 473 S.E.2d at 868.

⁸ Mr. Wendal Greene's representations, such as they are, are also inapposite in the estoppel context. *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016) (holding, in a factually similar case, that a decedent's estate could not be held responsible for misrepresentations of authority made by decedent's daughter and son in their individual capacities).

Ultimately, there is no evidence Ms. Wragg conferred upon Mr. Wendal Greene any authority, either expressly, impliedly, or apparently, to act as her agent concerning decisions about dispute resolution or her rights to a jury trial. Therefore, because Mr. Wendal Greene was not vested with appropriate agency power when he executed the Arbitration Agreement, it is invalid and unenforceable as against Ms. Wragg.

iii. Ms. Wragg did not ratify Mr. Wendal Greene's execution of the Arbitration Agreement as her own act and deed.

“Ratification, as it relates to the law of agency, means the express or implied adoption and confirmation by one person of an act or contract performed or entered into in his behalf by another who at the time assumed to act as his agent.” *Lincoln v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 300 S.C. 188, 191, 386 S.E.2d 801, 803 (Ct. App. 1989) (citation omitted). Ratification may be found only where there is: “(1) acceptance by the principal of the benefit of the agent’s acts, (2) [the principal’s] full knowledge of the facts, and (3) circumstances or an affirmative election indicating [the principal’s] intention to adopt the unauthorized arrangements.” *Id.*

Appellants assert Ms. Wragg ratified Mr. Wendal Greene’s execution of the Arbitration Agreement by adopting and confirming his act as her own, and thus Mr. Wendal Greene was Ms. Wragg’s agent by ratification. This argument is erroneous for two reasons. First, to find ratification in this case would require evidence that Mr. Wendal Greene “assumed to act as” Ms. Wragg’s agent. *See id.* As discussed above, Mr. Wendal Greene was not Ms. Wragg’s agent for the purpose of making decisions concerning her right to trial by jury; no evidence suggests he had any reason to assume he had that authority.

Second, assuming *arguendo* that some form of agency relationship existed (or, alternatively, to the extent ratification would indicate agency by estoppel), none of the elements of ratification are met. Ms. Wragg did not accept any benefit purportedly conferred by the Arbitration

Agreement.⁹ There is no evidence Ms. Wragg had any knowledge of Mr. Wendal Greene's execution of the Arbitration Agreement or of the effect its terms may have had on her ability to access the courts. Further, there is no evidence of Ms. Wragg's affirmative election or adoption of the Arbitration Agreement's terms. Rather, by challenging the assertion the Arbitration Agreement controls, Ms. Wragg is *rejecting* the notion she is bound by it.

With regard to Appellants' reliance Paragraph 15 of Ms. Burns' affidavit that "Ms. Wragg never repudiated or invalidated her son's actions," the law is clear that the "mere silence or failure of a principal to repudiate the unauthorized act of an agent does not necessarily constitute a ratification." *Stiltner v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.*, 395 S.C. 183, 191, 717 S.E.2d 74, 78 (Ct. App. 2011) (citation omitted). Only where "the silence or acquiescence in question cannot be explained on any other theory than that of ratification" will silence suffice to constitute ratification. *Id.* at 191-92, 717 S.E.2d at 78. In this case, there are several other plausible explanations for Ms. Wragg's "silence," only one of which is that she was apparently never presented the opportunity (until she filed suit) to repudiate her son's execution of the Arbitration Agreement. Ms. Burns makes no mention of ever confronting Ms. Wragg with the Arbitration Agreement after it was executed during her residency at the subject nursing home. She details no effort on her part to ascertain whether Ms. Wragg wanted to be bound by its terms. (*See R.* pp. 103 - 105.)¹⁰

Finally, Ms. Wragg accepted no benefit purportedly conferred by the Arbitration Agreement itself. Even assuming *arguendo* she did accept some benefit from it, any benefit it

⁹ To the extent Appellants assert that Ms. Wragg's "acceptance" of the benefits of her residency constitute "acceptance" of the Arbitration Agreement's terms and provisions, that premise is error. *See infra*.

¹⁰ Parenthetically, even if Ms. Burns had sought Ms. Wragg out to confront her with the Arbitration Agreement, it is exceedingly unlikely Ms. Wragg would have had the mental capacity to understand the implications of the Arbitration Agreement anyway.

conferred would be significantly outweighed by her loss of access to the courts.¹¹ Aside from Ms. Wragg’s “failure” to notify Ms. Angela Burns of her repudiation or invalidation of Mr. Wendal Greene’s execution of the Arbitration Agreement,¹² Appellants point to no other evidence in support of their ratification argument. Accordingly, Ms. Wragg did not ratify Mr. Wendal Greene’s unauthorized execution of the Arbitration Agreement.

For the foregoing reasons, Appellants’ contention that any sort of principal-agent relationship existed between Ms. Wragg and Mr. Wendal Greene is without merit, and the circuit court’s decision should be affirmed.

B. Ms. Wragg cannot be estopped from denying the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement because the Arbitration Agreement did not merge with the Admission Agreement.

As an alternative to their agency argument, Appellants maintain the Arbitration Agreement merged with the (assumedly valid) Admission Agreement and thus estops Ms. Wragg from denying the enforceability of the arbitration provisions. Generally, where instruments are “executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together,” unless there is “anything indicating a contrary intention” to merger. *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014). Appellants’ assertion that Ms. Wragg and Respondent are estopped from denying the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement is error because the two instruments did not merge at all.

¹¹ See *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. at 60, 784 S.E.2d at 688 (“[A]ny possible benefit emanating from the [arbitration agreement] alone is offset by [its] requirement that Mother waive her right to access to the courts and her right to a jury trial.”).

¹² (See R. pp. 103 - 105.)

In their Initial Brief, Appellants cursorily conclude “the merger presumption” arose in this case. The error intrinsic to Appellants’ argument on this point is the assumption that merger cures invalidity. Appellants have set aside the question of the Arbitration Agreement’s validity as against Ms. Wragg, relying instead upon the merger doctrine to bootstrap the demonstrably invalid Arbitration Agreement to the (assumedly valid) Admission Agreement, and then they maintain Ms. Wragg is estopped from denying the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability.^{13,14} In short, Appellants attempt an end-run around the validity of the Arbitration Agreement by holding fast to the merger doctrine. Respondent contends this is error for two reasons: first, merger does not cure invalidity, thus rendering Appellants’ merger and estoppel argument meritless; second, there is demonstrable intent contrary to merger, therefore, even if the elements of merger *were* present, the agreements in this case did not merge.

i. Merger cannot cure the Admission Agreement’s invalidity as to Ms. Wragg.

As noted above, Appellants conclude “the merger presumption” arose in the instant case because Mr. Wendal Greene was party to both the Arbitration Agreement and the Admission Agreement, executing both at the same time, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same

¹³ As a point of clarification, Appellants note in their brief that Respondent does not contest the enforceability of the Admission Agreement. This is a mischaracterization of Respondent’s position. The entirety of the footnote text in Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition says: “As the enforceability of the Admission Agreement is not at issue, it is assumed for the sake of argument that Wendal Greene was vested with authority under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act to bind Eleanor Wragg to the terms of the Admission Agreement.” (R. p. 42 n. 8.) Clearly, this footnote is an acknowledgement that the Admission Agreement’s enforceability was not (at the time the Memorandum in Opposition was filed) an issue raised in Appellants’ motion(s) below. Respondent sought only to frame the arguments that followed without conceding the same. As far as Respondent is aware, the Admission Agreement’s enforceability is not at issue in the instant appeal, either, and so takes no position on the matter.

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